
AGENDA

COUNCIL MEETING
Date: Wednesday, 19 October 2016
Time: 7.00 pm
Venue: Council Chamber, Swale House, East Street, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 3HT

RECORDING NOTICE
Please note: this meeting may be recorded.

At the start of the meeting the Chairman will confirm if all or part of the meeting is being 
audio recorded.  The whole of the meeting will be recorded, except where there are 
confidential or exempt items.

You should be aware that the Council is a Data Controller under the Data Protection Act.  
Data collected during this recording will be retained in accordance with the Council’s data 
retention policy.

Therefore by entering the Chamber and speaking at Committee you are consenting to being 
recorded and to the possible use of those sound records for training purposes.

If you have any queries regarding this please contact Democratic Services.

Quorum = 16 

Pages
1. Prayers

2. Emergency Evacuation Procedure

The Chairman will advise the meeting of the evacuation procedures to 
follow in the event of an emergency. This is particularly important for 
visitors and members of the public who will be unfamiliar with the building 
and procedures. 

The Chairman will inform the meeting whether there is a planned 
evacuation drill due to take place, what the alarm sounds like (i.e. ringing 
bells), where the closest emergency exit route is, and where the second 
closest emergency exit route is, in the event that the closest exit or route 
is blocked. 

The Chairman will inform the meeting that: 

(a) in the event of the alarm sounding, everybody must leave the building 
via the nearest safe available exit and gather at the Assembly points at 
the far side of the Car Park.  Nobody must leave the assembly point until 

Public Document Pack



everybody can be accounted for and nobody must return to the building 
until the Chairman has informed them that it is safe to do so; and 

(b) the lifts must not be used in the event of an evacuation. 

Any officers present at the meeting will aid with the evacuation. 

It is important that the Chairman is informed of any person attending who 
is disabled or unable to use the stairs, so that suitable arrangements may 
be made in the event of an emergency. 

3. Apologies for Absence

4. Minutes

To approve the Minutes of the Meeting held on 21 September 2016 
(Minute Nos. 886 - 894) as a correct record.

5. Declarations of Interest

Councillors should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or 
other material benefits for themselves or their spouse, civil partner or 
person with whom they are living with as a spouse or civil partner.  They 
must declare and resolve any interests and relationships.

The Chairman will ask Members if they have any interests to declare in 
respect of items on this agenda, under the following headings:

(a) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI) under the Localism Act 
2011.  The nature as well as the existence of any such interest must be 
declared.  After declaring a DPI, the Member must leave the meeting and 
not take part in the discussion or vote.  This applies even if there is 
provision for public speaking.

(b) Disclosable Non Pecuniary (DNPI) under the Code of Conduct 
adopted by the Council in May 2012.  The nature as well as the existence 
of any such interest must be declared.  After declaring a DNPI interest, 
the Member may stay, speak and vote on the matter.

(c) Where it is possible that a fair-minded and informed observer, 
having considered the facts would conclude that there was a real 
possibility that the Member might be predetermined or biased the 
Member should declare their predetermination or bias and then leave the 
room while that item is considered.

Advice to Members:  If any Councillor has any doubt about the 
existence or nature of any DPI or DNPI which he/she may have in any 
item on this agenda, he/she should seek advice from the Director of 
Corporate Services as Monitoring Officer, the Head of Legal or from other 
Solicitors in Legal Services as early as possible, and in advance of the 
Meeting.

6. Mayor's Announcements



7. Questions submitted by the Public

To consider any questions submitted by the public.  (The deadline for 
questions is 4.30 pm the Friday before the meeting – please contact 
Democratic Services by e-mailing democraticservices@swale.gov.uk or 
call 01795 417330).

8. Questions submitted by Members

To consider any questions submitted by Members.  (The deadline for 
questions is 4.30 pm the Wednesday before the meeting – please contact 
Democratic Services by e-mailing democraticservices@swale.gov.uk or 
call 01795 417330).

9. Leader's Statement

Members may ask questions on the Leader’s Statement.  (To follow).

10. Consideration of the two motions referred from Council to the General 
Purposes Committee

1 - 12

11. Constitution Review 13 - 38

12. Review of Polling District and Places in Sheerness and Woodstock Wards 39 - 44

13. Treasury Management report 45 - 56

14. Recommendations for Council to consider

(a) Council is asked to note the recommendations from the following 
meetings, which are the subject of separate reports on the agenda:

 Audit Committee - 14 September 2016 - Minute No. 875 
 General Purposes Committee - 29 September 2016 - Minute Nos. 

903, 904(a), (b), (d), (e).

(b) Council is asked to agree the recommendation from the General 
Purposes Committee -29 September 2016 - Minute No. 904(c).

57 - 58

Issued on Monday, 10 October 2016

The reports included in Part I of this agenda can be made available in alternative formats. 
For further information about this service, or to arrange for special facilities to be provided at 
the meeting, please contact DEMOCRATIC SERVICES on 01795 417330. To find out 
more about the work of Council, please visit www.swale.gov.uk

Director of Corporate Services, Swale Borough Council,
Swale House, East Street, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 3HT

democraticservices@swale.gov.uk
democraticservices@swale.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Council/ Meeting Agenda Item: 
Meeting Date 19 October 2016

Report Title Consideration of the two motions referred from Council to 
General Purposes Committee (GPC)

Cabinet Member Cllr Andrew Bowles, Leader.

SMT Lead Mark Radford, Director of Corporate Services and 
Monitoring Officer

Head of Service
Lead Officer Katherine Bescoby, Democratic and Electoral Services 

Manager

Key Decision No

Classification Open

Forward Plan Reference number:

Recommendations 1. Not to amend the constitution to allow adjacent 
parish/Town Councils to speak at planning Committee 
on items with adjacent Parish/Town Council areas.

2. Not to amend the constitution with regard to allowing 
additional speaking from any organisation that wishes 
to speak on a planning application presented.

1 Purpose of Report and Executive Summary

1.1 This report sets out the recommendations from General Purposes Committee 
(GPC) held on 29 September 2016 for consideration and adoption by Council.

2. Background

2.1 Attached to this report is the relevant paper presented to General Purposes 
Committee. 

3. Proposals

3.1 Council is asked to agree to the recommendations submitted by GPC as 
follows 

1. Not to amend the constitution to allow adjacent parish/Town Councils to speak 
at Planning Committee on items with adjacent Parish/Town Council areas.

Page 1

Agenda Item 10



2. Not to amend the constitution with regard to allowing additional speaking from 
any organisation that wishes to speak on a planning application presented.

4 Alternative Options

4.1 There is discretion on the proposals set out in the Working Papers; matters where 
there is no discretion in relation to law and statutory guidance do not form part of 
this report.

4.2 GPC have considered the working papers and made the recommendations set 
out in para 3.

5 Consultation Undertaken or Proposed

5.1 The review of the Constitution is the role of GPC. All members do receive all 
council agendas and reports and can attend the Committee. All recommendations 
from GPC have to be agreed by Council

6 Implications

Issue Implications
Corporate Plan Having an up to date Constitution is important for good governance 

and decision making and is part of the Council to be proud of 
objective.

Financial, 
Resource and 
Property

None at this stage, it is anticipated that the work arising out of the 
review will be contained within existing resources.

Legal and 
Statutory

Where there is a change as a result of legislation or regulation, or 
suggested on the basis of legal advice this is set out in the working 
papers.

Crime and 
Disorder

None identified at this stage.

Sustainability None identified at this stage.

Health and 
Wellbeing

None identified at this stage.

Risk Management 
and Health and 
Safety

None identified at this stage.

Equality and 
Diversity

None identified at this stage.

Page 2



7 Appendices

7.1 The following documents are to be published with this report and form part of the 
report:

Appendix I:  the Head of Planning’s Working paper to General Purposes 
Committee held on 29 September 2016 

8 Background Papers

None

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



General Purposes Committee

29 September 2016

Working paper on proposed amendments to the constitution regarding Public 
Speaking at planning committee

1. The following motions, proposed by Councillor Mike Baldock and seconded by Councillor 
Monique Bonney, was submitted to the Council on 21 September 2016:

a) This Council agrees that all Parish Councils that register to speak on a Planning 
Application should be allowed to speak on that Planning Application, regardless of 
whether the site in question falls within their boundary or not.

b) This Council agrees that any organisation that registers to speak on a Planning 
Application be allowed to speak, and not be counted as a Residents' spokesman – 
i.e. that residents are still allowed to speak on the application as well.

2. As per the Council’s constitution, the motion was referred without discussion to this 
Committee so that a full report explaining the position and implications of the motion 
could be considered.  This report explains the background to the current constitutional 
position and considers the pros and cons of the two motions. 

3. The Constitution sets out the current position regarding public speaking at the Planning 
committee. 

 
Members of the public will have the opportunity to speak at meetings of the Planning 
Committee in accordance with the procedure set out below:

 Anyone wishing to present a petition (related to an item included on the 
agenda) or speak on an application or item which is due to be considered at a 
meeting of the Planning Committee, including deferred items, are required to 
register with Democratic Services by noon on the day before the meeting.

 In the case of the Planning Committee, only one person will be allowed to 
speak in each of the following categories. The right to speak will be allocated 
within the categories on a “first come first served” basis: -

(a) Parish or Town Council representative
(b) Supporter
(c) Objector
(d) Applicant

At the meeting, applications on which the public have registered to speak, will usually 
be moved forward in Agenda item order and considered before applications which do 
not have any registered speakers. Members of the public who have registered to 
speak will be invited to do so in the order set out above for each application, and will 
have a maximum of three minutes to make their statement. The right to speak does 
not give the opportunity to ask questions or participate in the Committee’s decision 
and determination of an agenda item or Planning application.

PLEASE NOTE: There is no right to speak on applications that are being determined 
under the Minutes of the Planning Working Group, as members of the public will have 
had the opportunity to speak on these applications at a previous meeting of the 
Planning Committee and at the Planning Working Group meeting.

Page 5



4. Appendix I sets out a Practice Guidance Note 1 on Public Speaking in Planning 
Committees published by the Planning Officers Society and provides a useful overview 
and guide on best practice.

Town / Parish Council Speaking at Planning Committee

5. Under the terms of the constitution, normally only the Town / Parish Council who’s area 
encompasses the planning application site would automatically be given a right to speak 
at the Planning Committee. In the unusual circumstance that a planning application site 
straddles a parish boundary, the two Town / Parish Council’s involved would be allowed 
to speak at the Committee.

6. It is acknowledged however, that an adjacent parish could potentially be directly affected 
by a planning application proposal not within their boundaries e.g. visual impact and/or 
traffic impacts generated by the new development.  In these circumstances, it is 
considered appropriate to allow the adjacent Parish Council an opportunity to speak at 
the Committee.  However, in allowing adjacent Parish Council’s to speak, the constitution 
should make it clear that they should focus their comments purely on the direct or 
indirect impacts of a development on their parish area.

7. Whilst allowing the adjacent Parish Council to speak would inevitably lead to additional 
speaking time at a Planning Committee, it is considered that these situations do not arise 
so often as to have a significant regular impact on the duration of Planning Committee’s.  
For the avoidance of doubt, should members’ be minded to accept an adjacent parish 
Council to speak, that this is only available to the neatest immediately located parish in 
terms of distance to the nearest boundary.

Organisations Speaking at Planning Committee

8. It should be noted that all the representations submitted with a planning application are 
available for the Planning Committee to view and that all the representations are 
summarised in the Officer report.  These are available at least 5 days in advance of a 
Planning Committee, although late representations will be tabled or verbally presented 
by the planning officer at the meeting.

9. On many planning applications presented to the Planning Committee, there can be a 
demand for several speakers in objection (or less frequently in support) of a planning 
application.  The constitution currently only allows one non parish council objector to 
speak at the Committee.  The Council encourage the requesters for speaking to 
collaborate and agree a spokesperson to represent all their views as there are often 
common themes in their objections (or support).  

10. One of the principles for determining a planning application is to ensure the process is 
fair and avoids any risk of bias by the decision making body.  Authorities should ensure 
equal time to those speaking for or against a proposal to ensure fairness, noting that the 
number of representations for or against a proposal is not a material planning 
consideration.  The basis for any decisions should be based purely on the material 
planning benefits or issues relating to the proposal.  The current constitution allows for 
the applicant, the Town/Parish Council, an objector and a supporter.  Whilst there is a 
recommendation above to allow nearest adjacent Parish Council’s to speak, it remains 
the view that this procedure would be considered fair in enabling the opportunity for all 
the issues for and against to be expressed at the meeting.

Page 6



11. Given the above, it is considered that any representative organisation, including resident 
or protest groups, can take on the mantle of representing the sector of the community 
that its views align to and request to speak as the objector (or supporter) to a planning 
application.

12. Should members be minded to allow an open opportunity for organisations to be able to 
speak, this could lead to a plethora of requests to speak and consequently, significantly 
lengthening the time that would be need to be dedicated to public speaking, particularly 
on significant ‘major’ planning applications.  Currently, many Planning Committee 
meetings often extend well beyond a two hour duration where it could be argued that the 
focus, attention and efficiency of the Planning Committee members are inevitably going 
to wain.  Allowing any organisation to speak at the Committee will further extend 
meetings and further add pressure on members attending and potentially lead to poor 
decision making.  Additionally, such a move could give rise to additional meetings where 
it has not been possible to complete an agenda within on sitting.  This adds to significant 
further costs to the Council and adds to additional diary pressures to Planning 
Committee members

13. It is therefore RECOMMENDED that the Committee:

I. Agree to amend the constitution to allow adjacent Parish/Town Council’s to speak 
at Planning Committee on items within adjacent Parish/Town Council areas and 
to give delegated powers to the Director of Corporate Services to include detailed 
wording to that effect; and

II. Agree not to amend the constitution with regard to allowing additional speaking 
from any organisation that wishes to speak on a planning application presented 
to the Planning Committee.

James Freeman
Head of Planning

September 2016

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



  Development Management Practice Project 

 Page 1 of 4 

 
Practice Guidance Note 1 
Public Speaking in Planning Committees 
The POS Development Management Practice Project works with a group of local authorities to 
address issues in development management where there is a lack of published guidance.  
The group examines the range of approaches across the authorities to identify good practice, 
and this is drawn together as a practice guidance note. 
 
 
 Introduction 
1 It is generally considered good practice to provide the opportunity for objectors and 

supporters to address a Committee which is making decisions on controversial or 
important planning applications.  It creates the opportunity for people to feel more 
involved in the decision making process by being able to articulate their concerns before 
a decision is taken. 

 
2 Initial concerns that public speaking could lead to over lengthy meetings have not 

generally been borne out, particularly where authorities have high levels of officer 
delegation and limit the number of speakers.  In these cases the time available to elected 
members to focus on major or controversial decisions is judged to have brought about 
better management of performance, and better public satisfaction. 

 
3 Objectors are more likely to feel due weight is given to their views, and supporters or 

promoters are able to respond to issues raised, if “public speaking” is allowed.  The 
planning authority shows itself open to listening to differing views before a decision is 
taken. 

 
4 However the process has to be fair and avoid the risk of bias, and therefore procedural 

rules have to be established, publicly available and followed. 
 
5 Many individual authorities have worked out detailed procedural schemes, but no 

general guidance has been published comparing schemes and advising authorities on 
establishing or reviewing “public speaking” arrangements.  This guidance note has been 
drawn from discussions on best practice and is intended to provide such guidance. 

 
 Published procedures 
6 The procedures to be followed need to be carefully worked out to ensure fairness and to 

avoid any risk of actual or perceived bias by the decision making body.  The procedures 
should be freely available to all.  Many authorities advise on their public speaking 
opportunities and procedures when consulting on or notifying planning applications.  This 
demonstrates openness on the part of the authority and avoids last minute requests to 
speak.  It also gives all parties time to consider if and how they might wish to participate 
in “public speaking”, well before a meeting. 

 
 Registration 

7 Objectors or supporters (including applicants where relevant (see below)) must advise 
the authority in good time to allow appropriate administrative arrangements to be put in 
place to ensure all parties are aware of who is to speak.  Authorities should require 
registration at the latest by noon on the working day prior to the Committee.  Many 
require earlier registration which allows more time for those of opposing views to prepare 
to speak, especially if they had not anticipated speaking until becoming aware of the 
request from a speaker of the opposing view.  It also allows the authority more time to 
contact all those wishing to speak for or against, and for those of the same viewpoint to  
 

Page 9



  Development Management Practice Project 

 Page 2 of 4 

 
agree amongst themselves who will act as a spokesperson and avoid repetition or 
duplication. 

 
 Choice of speaker(s) 
8 Where there is a limit on the number of speakers, the authority should not choose those 

who will be allowed to speak.  Adequate time between registration and Committee allows 
parties of a like mind time to compare views and decide who should represent views 
where it is not practical or desirable for all who might wish to speak.  The authority 
should seek the agreement of anyone indicating they may wish to speak to share their 
contact details with others of the same general view to facilitate this.  Where this is not 
acceptable or where the parties cannot reach agreement, speakers should be selected 
on a “first come first served” basis to avoid any risk of bias. 

 
 Number of speakers and time limits 
9 Authorities should ensure equal time to those wishing to speak for or against a proposal 

to ensure fairness.  Most authorities limit the time available to speakers to ensure 
fairness for all, and to avoid excessively lengthy meetings running the risk of affecting 
the quality of decision making.  Many use a timed automatic system.  Whilst this may risk 
appearing unwelcoming, it does ensure fairness for opposing parties.  A time limit of 3 or 
5 minutes per speaker is common. Many authorities limit the number of speakers to one 
or two for and the same against a proposal.  In some cases procedures allow Chairs the 
discretion to allow extended times or numbers speaking in respect of complex or major 
controversial applications.  However extended times risk unfairness if not evenly applied 
and should be treated with care.  When dealing with major complex proposals at the pre-
application stage, it may be helpful to identify the likely level of public interest and to ask 
the developer to make arrangements for a public presentation or forum, which could be  
chaired by the Authority to reinforce its independent role, and allow a wide range of 
views to be heard at a formative stage. An example of such a process is Enquiry by 
Design promoted by the Princes Trust. 

 
 Purpose of speaking 
10 Most authorities only allow those who have made written representations or submitted 

the proposal to speak.  Therefore the views of the parties and the material points arising 
are already available to the authority and included in the Committee report.  It is helpful if 
the authority’s published advice to those contemplating public speaking makes this clear, 
and states that any previous representations will be available to the Committee.  
Published advice can helpfully explain that the purpose of the speaking opportunity is not 
to seek to explain all points expressed (as the authority is already aware of these), but to 
emphasise important points before a decision is taken.  It is important to convey that 
public speaking is not an adversarial opportunity, and to explain the limited time available 
and how the public speaking opportunity relates to the Committee procedure and 
decision making process as a whole.  It is also useful for published advice to explain that 
questions of other parties or the Council are not appropriate and clarifications should be 
sought of the officers or other parties prior to the meeting.  Published advice should 
explain that after each party has spoken the Councillors may want to clarify any points 
raised, and then the Committee will proceed to determine the application without further 
public speaking opportunities. 

 
 Order of speaking 
11 Most authorities regard the public speaking as part of the Committee meeting, and have 

standing orders allowing public speaking immediately before the Committee debates a 
particular application.  Once the planning officer has set the scene and updated the 
meeting on any late matters not dealt with in the published report, in most cases  

Page 10



  Development Management Practice Project 

 Page 3 of 4 

 
objectors are invited to speak first, followed by the applicant or supporters.  The officer’s 
introduction needs to be brief, but is found helpful to objectors and supporters giving 
them any update before they speak.  (Officers do not need to balance material 
considerations or explain the published recommendation at this point.  Their comments 
on material considerations or recommendations can be made at the appropriate point in 
the Committee’s subsequent deliberations.)   

 
12 Some authorities only allow applicants or supporters to address a committee if objectors 

have requested to speak, or if the officer recommendation is one of refusal.  However 
this needs careful consideration as it may risk being unfair to a party wishing to speak.  
Parish Councils have no rights to address a Committee as a consultee, but where an 
authority wishes to allow a Parish Council representative to speak this should be subject 
to the same procedural rules as for other parties, and be heard during the public 
speaking process.  Ward Councillors (not members of the decision making committee) 
are either heard as part of the public speaking, or as part of the subsequent committee 
debate, depending on the authority’s standing orders. 

 
 Late plans, photos, or circulation of further written submissions 

13 The circulation of materials should not normally be accepted during the meeting.  The 
public speaking opportunity is an opportunity to highlight important points already made 
in representations.  One party submitting late material may be unfair to other parties who 
have not had a chance to peruse that material or comment on inaccurate or misleading 
information.  It will often not be reasonable for such late submissions to be read by 
decision makers.  The risk of unnecessary deferral may therefore arise.  However, if new 
or further material is to be allowed by public speakers, depending on the method of 
projecting or circulating information to the Committee, it is desirable to require any further 
submissions such as photos, plans, models, or written materials to have been received 
far enough in advance of the meeting to be circulated to members by the set date, and to 
specify the number of copies required. Speakers should be advised that a copy of any 
such material will need to be kept by the authority, for the record.  

 
14 Some authorities have discretion for the chair or a senior officer to allow such 

submissions only if they are requested and provided prior to the committee and are 
necessary to update the representations made.  This allows consideration of any fresh 
material considerations raised late by objectors or supporters/agents to be considered 
and decisions taken on whether they are of such significance that deferral needs to be 
considered, and to ensure members have all the necessary information to determine the 
application at the meeting.  It is helpful if published advice explains this and any 
procedures to ensure fairness in circulating late information from objectors or supporters. 

 
 Conduct of Committee meetings 
15 Speakers should not be allowed to engage in discussion with members of the Committee 

during public speaking or the Committee deliberations, to avoid any risk of accusation of 
bias or personal interest. 

 
 Public Speaking & Delegated Applications 
16 Most authorities do not have public speaking opportunities on delegated applications, for 

good reason.  In most cases public speaking opportunities are only available on 
applications which are not delegated to the officers.  Some authorities only allow public 
speaking on major applications.  Other authorities, which have delegation schemes 
allowing members to request minor applications to be referred to a Committee if judged 
controversial, provide for public speaking on such cases.  A request for public speaking 
from an objector should not transfer a delegated application to a Committee item.  It is  
 

Page 11



  Development Management Practice Project 

 Page 4 of 4 

 
helpful for delegation schemes and published advice on public speaking to explain how 
delegated applications will be handled. 

 
 
 The project 
 The Development Management Practice Project is sponsored by the Planning Officers 

Society, and is run on its behalf by POS Enterprises and Trevor Roberts Associates. . 
The local authorities involved in the project are Arun, Ashford, Barnsley, Bournemouth, 
Broadland, Caradon, Chiltern, Hambleton, Hampshire, Lichfield, Portsmouth, Redcar & 
Cleveland, Richmond, Suffolk, Swindon, Vale Royal and Wycombe.  The project will run 
for a year in the first instance, from April 2007 to March 2008.  Finalised guidance is 
published on the POS web site and circulated direct to Society members. 

 
 
 
C:\Documents and Settings\Geoff\My Documents\POS\PAS  POSE\DM PRACTICE 

PROJECT\Guidanceonpublicspeakingatcommittee-draftABWtracked\Guidanceonpublicspeakingatcommittee-
draftABWchanged.doc June 2007 

 

Page 12



Council/ Meeting Agenda Item: 
Meeting Date 19 October 2016

Report Title Constitution review

Cabinet Member Cllr Andrew Bowles, Leader.

SMT Lead Mark Radford, Director of Corporate Services and 
Monitoring Officer

Head of Service
Lead Officer Katherine Bescoby, Democratic and Electoral Services 

Manager

Key Decision No

Classification Open

Forward Plan Reference number:

Recommendations 1. The Director of Corporate Services, in consultation 
with the Leader, be given the delegation to 
incorporate, the revised national model procedure 
relating to the dismissal of statutory officers into Part 
4.8 of the Officer Employment Procedure Rules within 
the Constitution.

2. The revised scheme of officer delegation to the Head 
of Planning as set out in the revised working paper to 
the report be adopted.

3. The proposed amendments to the Contract Standing 
Orders as set out in the working papers be adopted as 
part of the Constitution.

1 Purpose of Report and Executive Summary

1.1 This report sets out the recommendations from General Purposes Committee 
(GPC) held on 29 September 2016 for consideration and adoption by Council.

The report sets out the details of:

 The latest position in relation to Statutory Officer disciplinary procedures and 
suggests a delegation to allow for the finally agreed national procedures to be 
incorporated into the Constitution. 

 Suggested changes to the Head of Planning Officer Delegation. 
 Proposed changes to Contract Standing Orders to reflect updated procedures 

to ensure that business is conducted effectively and efficiently. 

Page 13

Agenda Item 11



(Whilst   a review of all the procedure rules has been undertaken, it should be 
noted that regulations and the statutory Modular Constitution guidance means 
that the review has concentrated on those areas where the Council has 
discretion.)

Elsewhere on the agenda there is a separate report relating to:

 Review of speaking rights at Planning Committee in the light of the Motions 
submitted to Council on 21 September 2016

2. Background

2.1 Attached to this report are the relevant papers presented to General Purposes 
Committee. The following working papers have been revised to reflect  GPC’s 
discussions:

2.2 In relation to Contract Standing Orders, under item 12.3 where it was agreed to 
add the word solely after not to emphasise that contracts shall be awarded on the 
most economical and advantageous tender to the Council and not solely on price. 
Also under item 14.2.3 further clarification has been added for extensions to 
contracts where it was agreed that a contract written with the intention to renew 
(e.g. 3 years plus two years) does not require any exceptional circumstances in 
order for the extended period to be implemented. This would be subject to 
confirmation that performance levels and value for money criteria were being met.

2.3 In relation to proposed amendments to the Head of Planning delegations 
regarding s 106 Agreements a revised wording has been suggested to reflect the 
concerns expressed at GPC.

3. Proposals

3.1 Council is asked to agree to the recommendations submitted by GPC as follows 
that:

1. The Director of Corporate Services, in consultation with the Leader, be 
given the delegation to incorporate, the revised national model 
procedure relating to the dismissal of statutory officers into Part 4.8 of 
the Officer Employment Procedure Rules within the Constitution.

2. The revised scheme of officer delegation to the Head of Planning as set 
out in the revised working paper to the report be adopted.

3. The proposed amendments to the Contract Standing Orders as set out 
in the working papers be adopted as part of the Constitution.

Page 14



4 Alternative Options

4.1 There is discretion on the proposals set out in the Working Papers; matters where 
there is no discretion in relation to law and statutory guidance do not form part of 
this report.

4.2 GPC have considered the working papers and made the recommendations set 
out in para 3.

5 Consultation Undertaken or Proposed

5.1 The review of the Constitution is the role of GPC. All members do receive all 
council agendas and reports and can attend the Committee. All recommendations 
from GPC have to be agreed by Council

6 Implications

Issue Implications
Corporate Plan Having an up to date Constitution is important for good governance 

and decision making and is part of the Council to be proud of 
objective.

Financial, 
Resource and 
Property

None at this stage, it is anticipated that the work arising out of the 
review will be contained within existing resources.

Legal and 
Statutory

Where there is a change as a result of legislation or regulation, or 
suggested on the basis of legal advice this is set out in the working 
papers.

Crime and 
Disorder

None identified at this stage.

Sustainability None identified at this stage.

Health and 
Wellbeing

None identified at this stage.

Risk Management 
and Health and 
Safety

None identified at this stage.

Equality and 
Diversity

None identified at this stage.

7 Appendices

7.1 The following documents are to be published with this report and form part of the 
report:

Page 15



Appendix I: Revised Working Paper re Scheme of Officer Delegation to the Head 
of Planning Services

Appendix II: Working Paper re Contract Standing Orders

8 Background Papers

Agenda and Minutes of the General Purposes Committee meeting held on 29 
September 2016 www.swale.gov.uk

Page 16

http://www.swale.gov.uk/


Appendix I

General Purposes Committee

29 September 2016

Working paper on proposed amendments to the constitution – Head of Planning 
delegations regarding S.106 Agreements

1. As it stands all planning applications which require a S.106 Planning Obligations 
agreement are required to be presented to Planning Committee for approval.

2. In some instances, these planning applications are not controversial and have the 
general support of the local community and ward members.

3. It is therefore proposed that delegation should be given to the Head of Planning to 
determine those planning applications which require S.106 ‘s in accordance with the 
existing delegation regarding member call-in’ but with the added proviso that the ward 
councillors and the Planning Committee chair are consulted on the S.106 heads of terms 
and can request that the item is referred to the Planning Committee where their views 
are contrary to that of the Head of Planning.

4. Additionally, Planning Inspectors are increasingly requiring planning officers to present 
draft S.106 heads of terms and draft conditions at planning appeals to be taken into 
account should the planning inspector allow the appeal.  This requirement does not 
provide an opportunity to officers to confer with the Planning Committee and therefore, 
delegation is required to enable planning officers to present draft heads of terms on 
S.106 agreements and draft conditions in accordance with Council Local Plan policies.

5. It is therefore RECOMMENDED that the constitution be amended in accordance with the 
proposals set out in paragraphs three and four and that delegation be given to the 
Director of Corporate Services to include detailed wording to that effect.

James Freeman

Head of Planning

September 2016

Final proposal (the additional wording is highlighted in bold)

6. Having considered the matter at its meeting on 29 September GPC did not agree the 
original recommendation set out in 5 above but proposed the following revised 
RECOMMENDATION to full Council:

1. That the Constitution be amended to revise delegation 1 of the Head Planning’s 
delegation to include the wording to negotiate and enter into s 106 Agreements.

Page 17



2. That the Constitution be amended to include a new delegation to the Head of 
Planning’s delegation that during the appreal process to negotiate and enter into 
s106 Agreements and conditions in accordance with Council Local Plan Policies and 
any pre appeal discussions with relevant members.

 

Revised wording in full:

DELEGATIONS TO THE HEAD OF PLANNING

Development Control 

1. To determine applications, negotiate and enter into s.106 Agreements, to agree minor 
variations to planning obligations, to respond to prior notifications and to make observations 
on behalf of the Borough Council in accordance with the provisions of the appropriate 
Development Plan or other adopted Borough Council Planning Policy Guidance. 

2. The delegated powers in paragraph 1 above shall not be exercised in the following 
circumstances: 

(a) applications where the decision of the Head of Planning would conflict with any 
written representation received within the specified representation period from: 

(i) any Member of the Borough Council; 

(ii) a statutory consultee; or

 (iii) a Parish or Town Council; provided that any such  representations from (ii) or (iii) 
above  are, in the opinion of the Head of Planning, based upon relevant planning 
considerations. . 

(b)   applications where the decision of the Head of Planning would conflict with 
letters of representations, or  petitions, from at least three separate addresses 
received within the specified representation period from persons or bodies (other 
than those set out in (a) above) provided that any such representations are, in the 
opinion of the Head of Planning, based upon relevant planning considerations and a 
relevant Ward Member requests that the application should be reported to the 
Planning Committee  (see 2 (i) above)(c) applications submitted by Members of the 
Council and Members of Staff; and 

(c) applications which the Head of Planning considers are sufficiently major or raise 
difficult questions of policy interpretation or any unusual or difficult issues which 
warrant Member determination.

3. During the appeal process to negotiate and enter into s106 Agreements and 
conditions in accordance with Council Local Plan Policies and any pre-appeal 
discussions with relevant members.

Page 18



Appendix II
Working Paper: General Purposes Committee 29 September 2016: Proposed changes 

to Contract Standing Orders.

1. As part of the review of the Constitution it is necessary to consider whether it is 
appropriate to amend Contract Standing Orders (CSO) to ensure the content reflects 
current legislation and requirements. In this case amendments are also proposed to 
assist local Small, Medium enterprises (SME’s) in procuring lower value opportunities 
between £0 - £25,000.

2. This report provides information with regard to the proposed amendments that are 
contained within Appendix I of the report. It sets out in Appendix I the detailed 
changes to CSO together with the rationale for such changes as the basis for 
consideration by the Committee of any changes to be recommended to Council for 
approval

3. Purchasing decisions and processes are important because the money involved 
is public money. The purpose of  Contract Standing Orders is to  provide  a  
structure  within  which  purchasing  decisions are  made  and implemented and 
which ensure that the Council furthers its corporate objectives. One such objective is 
Social Value and the amendments proposed will further assist local SME’s in 
successfully procuring council services while keeping in line with the principles of the 
EU Treaties. 

4. Even when a tender process is not required under the Directives, for example 
because the estimated value of a contract falls below the relevant threshold, EU 
Treaty-based principles of non-discrimination, equal treatment, transparency, mutual 
recognition and proportionality apply and some degree of advertising, appropriate to 
the scale of the contract, is likely to be necessary to demonstrate transparency. This 
is in line with the UK objective of achieving value for money in all public procurement, 
not just that which is covered by the procurement Directives. The proposed 
amendments recognise and comply with the principles of the EU Treaties.

5. Members are asked to refer to Appendix I for detail of the proposed amendments 
The proposals contained in Appendix i are intended to provide a ‘lighter touch’ for the 
benefit of local SME’s while maintaining the principles of the EU Directive and are 
generally aimed at lifting the lower financial threshold to enable a smoother and more 
simplified process to lower value procurements.

6. Consultation with the Procurement Group in July 2016 followed by Legal and Finance 
has been undertaken and agreement reached that amendments contained in 
Appendix I of this report be recommended and approved.

RECOMMENDATION: It is proposed that the amendments are made to CSO as set out in 
Appendix I are recommended to Council

Alan Marolia – Contracts and Procurement Support manager – 7437 – Rm. 137

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



ANNEX I - Proposed revisions

Clause Current wording Proposed wording Rationale
1.4 These Contract Standing Orders do not provide 

guidelines on what is the best way to purchase 
works, supplies (goods) and services.  They set out 
minimum requirements to be followed. Further 
information and guidelines are set out in the 
Council’s Purchasing Guide, Procurement Strategy, 
Code of Conduct, Safety Policy, Equal 
Opportunities Policy, Protected Disclosure Policy 
(Whistleblowing) and Data Quality Standard’.

These Contract Standing Orders do not provide 
guidelines on what is the best way to purchase 
works, supplies (goods) and services.  They set 
out minimum requirements to be followed. 
Further information and guidelines are set out in 
the Council’s Purchasing Guide, Procurement 
Strategy, Code of Conduct, Safety Policy, Equal 
Opportunities Policy, Local First Policy, 
Safeguarding Policy, Commissioning 
Framework, Protected Disclosure Policy 
(Whistleblowing) and Data Quality Standard’.

Added the 
Commissioning 
Framework and Local 
First policy to this clause.

2.3.5 Contractual  arrangements  with  other  local  
authority’s  or similar body’s where the Council is not 
the lead authority in which case the lead authority’s 
Standing Orders shall prevail’.  

Contractual arrangements  with  other  local  
authority’s  or similar body’s where the Council is 
not the lead authority in which case the lead 
authority’s Standing Orders shall prevail.  
Contracts involving shared services, the CSO of 
the lead authority in the partnership shall apply 
even if different from the Council’s’.

Contracts involving 
shared services, the 
CSO of the lead authority 
in the partnership shall 
apply even if different 
from the Council’s.

2.3.6 New clause “Framework Agreements providing that the Head 
of Finance has agreed the terms of the 
Framework Agreement”.

Ensure that the Head of 
Finance is satisfied with 
the T&Cs the Council are 
signing up to.

3.1 All purchases however small shall be in writing and 
on an official order or appropriate contract document 
approved by the Head of Finance.  The price to be 
paid must be specified together with a statement as 
to the amount of any discount(s) or other 
deduction(s).  All committed expenditure must be 
entered by the relevant Service Unit onto the 
Council’s accounting system including, at the 
commencement of each financial year the estimated 
annual contract sums for on-going contracts’.

All orders used in connection with Contracts 
shall be on the Council’s official order template

Streamlined this clause 
in conjunction with 
Council’s current 
financial system.

P
age 21



3.2 ‘Standard contract clauses shall be used in all 
contracts of a value of £15,000 or more. The 
standard contract clauses are issued by Legal 
Services and can be found on the intranet’

Standard contract clauses shall be used in all 
contracts of a value of £25,000 or more. The 
standard contract clauses are issued by Legal 
Services and can be found on the intranet’

The threshold has been 
raised to meet the same 
advertising and threshold 
we are obliged to follow 
by Crown Commercial 
Services for Local 
Authorities.

3.3 As a minimum, all contracts of a value of £15,000 or 
more shall include clauses which set out’

As a minimum, all contracts of a value of 
£25,000 or more shall include clauses which set 
out’

New PCRs require LG 
contracts over £25k to be 
published on Contracts 
Finder

3.5 All  contracts  shall  include  relevant  specifications  
and / or  briefs / technical requirements which are 
prepared taking Into account the need for 
effectiveness of delivery, quality, sustainability and 
efficiency (as appropriate) and the information set 
out in the Council’s Purchasing Guide’

All  contracts  shall  include  relevant  
specifications  and / or  briefs / technical 
requirements which are prepared taking Into 
account the need for effectiveness of delivery, 
quality, sustainability and efficiency (as 
appropriate) and the information set out in the 
Council’s Purchasing Guide.  All procurement 
documentation including specifications and / or 
briefs / technical requirements and relevant 
contractual documentation need to be advertised 
all at the same time regardless of the 
procurement procedure’

PCR2015 Requirement 
where we must advertise 
all documentation to help 
SMEs’

3.6 All contracts of a value of £15,000 or more or which 
involve a substantial risk to the Council must be 
subject to a written risk assessment, which should 
be kept on the contract file’

All contracts of a value of £25,000 or more or 
which involve a substantial risk to the Council 
must be subject to a written risk assessment, 
which should be kept on the contract file’

To meet the Council’s 
new proposed tender 
threshold.

4.1.2 The relevant rules and EU treaties principles which 
are defined in the Council’s Purchasing Guide’

Delete repeated in 4.2 of the 
Council’s CSO’s) – 4.1.3 
and 4.1.4 have been 
renumbered to 4.1.2.and 
4.1.3.

4.2 In the event of conflict  between the above, the E.U. 
Rules will take precedence, followed by UK 
legislation, then the Council's Constitution, the 

In the event of conflict in legislation, E.U. Rules 
will take precedence, followed by UK legislation, 
then the Council's Constitution, the Council’s 

Steam lined the clause

P
age 22



Council’s Purchasing Guide and guidelines, policies 
and procedures’

Purchasing Guide the Council’s and guidelines, 
policies and procedures’

5.3.6 that all contracts of a value of £15,000 or more are 
included on the Council’s Contract Register’

that all contracts of a value of £5,000 or more 
are included on the Council’s Contract Register’

This will ensure that we 
meet and remain 
compliant with the 
transparency code, that 
we are able to ensure 
that appropriate 
contractual 
arrangements are in 
place and to assist with 
commissioning and 
category management.

5.3.8 New clause All Contracts over £25,000 will be:
in the form approved by Legal Services; 
executed;
a minimum of three copies of this contract are 
required; one  to be stored in the Council’s 
strong room; the second to the winning bidder/s 
and a copy for the lead officer or their staff. An 
electronic copy of the signed / sealed contract is 
to be emailed to procurement.

Raising to the new 
proposed threshold from 
£15k to £25k.  To build 
resilience and 
auditability, Procurement 
will store the contract on 
their e-procurement 
system. This clause will 
ensure that all 
stakeholders are working 
to the same information.

5.3.10 
(was 
5.3.9)

consideration  is  given  to  providing  adequate  and 
appropriate security (such as a bond or guarantee) 
to protect the Council in the event of non-
performance

that a risk assessment is carried for the approval 
of the Head of Finance out to ascertain whether 
a bond or guarantee is required  to protect the 
Council in the event of non-performance.

To ensure this risk is 
considered prior to the 
procurement stage.

7.1 The  table  below  sets  out  the  general  rules  
applying  to  the  choice  of purchasing procedure 
for contracts at the stated threshold values.  

The  table  below  sets  out  the  general  rules  
applying  to  the  choice  of purchasing 
procedure for contracts at the stated threshold 
values.  All Figures quoted in this documents are 
exclusive of VAT.

To make clear these 
CSOs relate to net 
values

7.3 The  public  notice  referred  to  at  7.2  may  take  
the  form  of  a  notice  or advertisement  in  an  

The  public  notice  referred  to  at  7.2  may  
take  the  form  of  a  notice  or advertisement  in  

Increasing the 
advertising threshold to a 

P
age 23



electronic or  paper format,  on  an  easily accessible 
website  or  other electronic  media and / or in  the 
press, trade journals or Official  Journal  of  the  
European  Union   (“OJEU”)  (as  appropriate).  The 
Responsible / Lead Officer may choose to place one 
or more public notices in different media. Any tender 
as a minimum between £5,001 & £14,999 will be 
advertised on Swale.gov.uk.  As a minimum any 
tender valued at £15,000 or above will be advertised 
on www.swale.gov.uk and the Kent Portal. Tenders 
valued at £25,000 or more will also need to be 
published on Contracts Finder’

an  electronic or  paper format,  on  an  easily 
accessible website  or  other electronic  media 
and / or in  the press, trade journals or Official  
Journal  of  the  European  Union   (“OJEU”)  (as  
appropriate).  The Responsible / Lead Officer 
may choose to place one or more public notices 
in different media.  As a minimum any tender 
valued at £25,000 or above will be advertised on 
www.swale.gov.uk and the Kent Portal. Tenders 
valued at £25,000 or more will also need to be 
published on Contracts Finder’

proposed £25,000 in line 
with the new proposed 
tender threshold.  CCS 
insist that all local 
authority opportunities 
over £25k are advertised.  
The Council will use the 
Council’s e-procurement 
system to find SMEs in 
the ME9 to ME13 
Postcodes for works, 
good and services below 
£25,000 to obtain ITQs 
for works, goods and 
services.  The Council 
will publicise this in the 
business bulletin, on our 
website, Inside Swale 
and any organisations 
contacting the Authority 
offering their works, 
goods or services.

7.4 See Annex II See Annex II Proposed changes in 
the advertising threshold 
as mentioned above to 
£25,000 Adopting the 
principles of e-
procurement that 
become mandatory in 
September 2018 for 
local authorities.  The 
introduction of a new 
light touch regime 
threshold has been 
incorporated in line with 

P
age 24

http://www.swale.gov.uk/
http://www.swale.gov.uk/


the PCR 2015.  Legal 
services to be present at 
tender opening. Cabinet 
Member not to be 
present at tender 
openings to prevent any 
unnecessary exposure.  
Change advertising 
threshold to £25k and to 
use the suppliers list on 
the e-procurement 
system to find SMEs in 
the ME9 to ME13 
postcodes to undertake 
and RFQ.

7.6 Financial appraisals shall be carried out by Financial 
Services on all Contractors tendering for contracts of 
£75,000 and above, prior to invitation to tender. For 
contracts above £30,000 but not exceeding £74,999, 
prior to award of contract the proposed successful 
contractor shall be subject to financial appraisal by 
Financial Services’

Financial appraisals shall be carried out by 
Financial Services on all Contractors submitting 
a bid of £75,000 and above, this will be 
undertaken at the PQQ or suitability assessment 
stage. For contracts above £30,000 but not 
exceeding £74,999, prior to award of contract 
the proposed successful contractor shall be 
subject to financial appraisal by Financial 
Services

To fit in with the PCR 
2015 - open procedure 
procurements between 
£25,000 and the OJEU 
threshold for goods and 
services will have a 
suitability assessment.  
Procurement below £25k 
or above the OJEU for 
goods and services may 
have a PQQ.

8.3 All contracts valued at £75,000 or above must be 
reported to the Cabinet for approval and shall be 
executed as a deed. All other contracts may be 
signed by officers with appropriate delegated 
authority.  £15,000 shall be the threshold for the 
purposes of Regulation 8 of the Local Authority 
(Executive Arrangements) (Modification of 
Enactments and Further Provisions) (England) Order 
2001’.

All contracts valued at £75,000 or above must 
be reported to the Cabinet for approval and shall 
be executed as a deed, there is a 5 calendar  
day call in period post Cabinet, Once the 
Minutes have been published, usually the 
following Monday) All other contracts may be 
signed by officers with appropriate delegated 
authority.  £74,999 shall be the threshold for the 
purposes of Regulation 8 of the Local Authority 

Added in the 5 calendar 
day call in period as per 
the Council’s Constitution

P
age 25



(Executive Arrangements) (Modification of 
Enactments and Further Provisions) (England) 
Order 2001’

9.2 There shall be no artificial splitting of a contract to 
avoid the application of the provisions of the EU 
Rules and / or these Contract Standing Orders’

Contracts may be split into lots where it is 
practical to do so. However the aggregated cost 
of the lots shall determine the contract’s whole of 
life value and the procurement process to be 
followed. Artificial splitting of a contract to avoid 
the application of the procurement rules or these 
CSOs is not permitted.

Breaking contracts down 
into smaller lots is a PCR 
2015 requirement and 
should also help SMEs to 
bid for works, goods and 
services.

9.3 The EU Rules can cover contracts which are below 
the stated EU threshold where they constitute 
repeat purchases and / or purchases of a similar 
type in a specified period. Responsible Officers 
should therefore seek advice on the application of 
the E.U. Rules where they envisage that they may 
require repeat purchases and / or purchases of a 
similar type

The EU Rules cover contracts which are below 
the stated EU threshold where they constitute 
repeat purchases and / or purchases of a similar 
type in a specified period. Responsible Officers 
should therefore seek advice on the application 
of the E.U. Rules where they envisage that they 
may require repeat purchases and / or 
purchases of a similar type.

Removed the word, “can”

11.1 An Invitation to Tender shall be issued by the 
Council for all contracts over £15,000 and tenders 
shall be submitted in accordance with the 
requirements of the Invitation to Tender.

An Invitation to Tender shall be issued by the 
Council for all contracts over £25,000 using the 
Council’s e-procurement system and tenders 
shall be submitted in accordance with the 
requirements of the Invitation to Tender.

Increased tender 
threshold to £25k and to 
use the Council’s e-
procurement system 
where practicable.

11.5 All tenders of £15,000 and above to be opened 
b y  the Democratic and Electoral Services 
Manager (or nominee), in the presence of the 
Responsible / Lead Officer (or nominee) and an 
independent senior officer.  And also where 
required or requested in the presence of the 
Cabinet portfolio holder (or nominee).
An  immediate  record  to  be  made  of  the  
tenders  received including names and addresses  
and the date and time of opening.  The record to 
be retained by the Democratic and Electoral Services 
Manager.

All tenders of £25,000 and above a r e  to be 
opened i n  t h e  p r e s e n c e  of the 
Democratic and Electoral Services Manager (or 
nominee), in the presence of the Responsible / 
Lead Officer (or nominee) and an independent 
senior officer.  
An  immediate  record  to  be  made  of  the  
tenders  received including names and 
addresses  and the date and time of opening.  
The record to be retained by the Democratic and 
Electoral Services Manager and Procurement.

Increase tender 
threshold to £25k, tender 
memorandum to be kept 
by procurement too for 
audit and monitoring 
purposes.  Members 
excluded from tender 
opening to prevent any 
conflict of interest.

P
age 26



12.1 All quotes and tenders shall be evaluated in 
accordance with evaluation criteria notified in 
advance to those submitting quotes / tenderers.

All quotes and tenders shall be evaluated in 
accordance with evaluation criteria notified in 
advance to those submitting quotes / tenderers.  
Evaluations shall be undertaken in accordance 
with the Council’s evaluation procedure, P.16.

Due to recent case law 
we have created a 
procedure to ensure that 
at least a minimum of 
three evaluators made 
up of either Officers, 
consultants or 
stakeholder is 
undertaken separately 
prior to collaboration.

12.3 Save in exceptional circumstances approved in 
advance by the relevant Director all contracts shall 
be awarded on the basis of the quote or tender 
which represents best value for money to the 
Council and not solely on the basis of lowest price.

Save in exceptional circumstances approved 
in advance by the relevant Director all 
contracts shall be awarded on the basis of the 
quote or tender which represents the Most 
Economical and Advantageous Tender to the 
Council and not on the basis of lowest price.

Changed to meet cost 
quality split, removing 
best value for money to 
the most economical and 
advantageous Tender.

13.1.4 at the discretion of the relevant Director,  who may 
for contracts exceeding £15,000 but not exceeding 
£74,999 proceed in a manner most expedient to the 
efficient  management of the service / Council with 
reasons recorded in writing.

at the discretion of the relevant Director,  who 
may for contracts exceeding £25,000 but not 
exceeding £74,999 proceed in a manner most 
expedient to the efficient  management of the 
service / Council with reasons recorded in 
writing.

Changed from £15,000 
to the new proposed 
threshold of £25,000.

13.3.2 Subject to a written report in an approved format. 
For contracts not exceeding £74,999 the report shall 
be submitted in advance to t h e  H e a d  o f  
C o m m i s s i o n i n g  a n d  C u s t o m e r  
C o n t a c t  and include the reasons why the 
waiver is genuinely required. For contracts of 
£75.000 and above the report shall be submitted to 
the Cabinet;

Subject to a written report in an approved 
format. For contracts not exceeding £74,999 the 
report shall be submitted in advance to 
P r o c u r e m e n t  and include the reasons 
why the waiver is genuinely required. For 
contracts of £75.000 and above the report shall 
be submitted to the Cabinet;

Waivers to go to 
Procurement first.

13.3.3 Subject to approval in advance by the Head of 
Commissioning and Customer Contact, in 
consultation with the Heads of Legal and Audit 
Services as appropriate, who shall, for contracts 
exceeding £15,000 but not  exceeding £74,999, 

Subject to agreement in advance by the Head 
of Commissioning and Customer Contact and 
in consultation with the Heads of M id  Ken t  
Legal Services and Finance as appropriate, 
who shall, for contracts exceeding £25,000 but 

Waivers over £25,000 
will no longer go to Audit 
but go to Legal and 
finance plus the Head of 
Commissioning and 

P
age 27



record that they have considered the reasons for the 
waiver and that they are satisfied  that  the  
circumstances  justifying  the  waiver  are genuinely 
exceptional.  Waiver from competitive purchasing 
process for contracts of £75.000 and above must be 
approved in advance by the Cabinet.  In the report to 
Cabinet a recommendation; “Cabinet agree to the 
waiver requested in relation to the [works, goods / 
services] contract and that the Head of 
Commissioning and Customer Services be 
authorised to complete the necessary 
documentation”.  Prior to Cabinet, the wavier should 
still be considered by the heads of Legal and Internal 
Audit Services;

not exceeding £74,999, record that they have 
considered the reasons for the waiver and that 
they are satisfied that the  circumstances  
justifying  the  waiver.  The Contracts and 
Procurement Manager and Contracts and 
Procurement Support Manager have the 
delegated authority to consider and approve 
Waivers valued between £5,000 to £24,999 
and record that they have considered the 
reasons for the waiver and that they are 
satisfied that the circumstances  justifying  the  
waiver  are genuinely exceptional.  Waiver from 
competitive purchasing process for contracts of 
£75.000 and above must be approved in 
advance by the Cabinet.  In the report to 
Cabinet a recommendation; “Cabinet agree to 
the waiver requested in relation to the [works, 
goods / services] contract and that the Head of 
Commissioning and Customer Services be 
authorised to complete the necessary 
documentation”.  Prior to Cabinet, the wavier 
should still be considered by the heads of Mid 
Kent Legal Services and Finance.  In the 
absence of the Head of Commissioning and 
Customer Contact, the Contracts and 
Procurement Manager has the delegated 
authority to record that they have considered 
the reasons for the waiver and that they are 
satisfied that the circumstances justifying the  
waiver  and sign off over waivers over £25,000 
in consultation with the Heads of Mid-Kent 
Legal Services and Finance, waivers above 
£75,000 subject to Cabinet approval;

Customer Contact.  
Procurement team are 
able to approve waivers 
up to £25,000 from 
£15,000.  In the absence 
of the Head of 
Commissioning and 
customer contact the 
Contracts and 
Procurement Manager 
can sign off waivers 
>£25,000.  All waivers 
over £75,000 will need to 
be approved by the 
Cabinet.

13.3.4 Subject to approval in advance by the Head of 
Commissioning and Customer Contact, or 

Subject to approval in advance by the Head of 
Commissioning and Customer Contact, or 

Increased threshold from 
£15,000 to £25,000.  

P
age 28



representative in consultation with the Procurement 
Team or  the  Heads  o f  Lega l  and  Aud i t  
Serv i ces  as  appropriate for contracts exceeding 
£5,001 but not exceeding £15,000. For contracts 
exceeding £15,000 refer to 13.3.3.

representative in consultation with the 
Procurement Team or  the  Heads  o f  Lega l  
and  F inance  Serv i ces  as  appropriate for 
contracts exceeding £5,001 but not exceeding 
£25,000. For contracts exceeding £25,000 refer 
to 13.3.3.

Adding in Finance and 
omitting audit for 
considering waivers.

13.7 New clause A wavier may only apply to the omission/s of 
certain item/s therefore, the Responsible / Lead 
Officer will be required to follow all other criteria 
in CSOs other than what has been approved 
and agreed in the submitted waiver

To enforce the fact that a 
waiver does not mean 
waiving all of Council’s 
CSOs - only the parts 
illustrated in the waiver 
submitted and approved.

14.1 Where extensions to existing contracts are made 
the extensions must be determined in accordance 
with the contract terms, for a specified period and 
made in accordance with the principles set out in 
the Council’s Purchasing Guide.

Where extensions to existing contracts are 
made the extensions must be determined in 
accordance with the advertisement / contract 
terms, for a specified period and made in 
accordance with the principles set out in the 
Council’s Purchasing Guide.

Added the word 
advertisement.

14.2.2 Subject to a written report in an approved format.  
For contracts not exceeding £74,999 the report 
shall be submitted in advance to the relevant 
Director and include the reasons why the extension 
is required and is genuinely exceptional.  For 
contracts of £75,000 and above the report shall be 
submitted to the Cabinet;

Subject to a written report in an approved 
format, form P.24. For contracts not exceeding 
£74,999 the report shall be submitted in 
advance to the relevant Director and include 
the reasons why the extension is required  For 
contracts where the extension value is £75,000 
and above the report shall be submitted to the 
Cabinet;

Added P24 to officially 
log an extension to 
contract

14.2.3 Subject to approval in advance by the relevant 
Director who shall, for contracts not exceeding 
£74,999, record that they have considered the 
reasons for the extension and that they are satisfied 
that the circumstances justifying the extension are 
genuinely exceptional. Extensions for contracts o f  
£75,000 and above must be approved in advance 
by the Cabinet.

Subject to approval in advance by the relevant 
Director who shall, for contracts not exceeding 
£74,999, record that they have considered the 
reasons for the extension and that they are 
satisfied that the circumstances justifying the 
extension are genuinely exceptional. Extensions 
for contracts whe re  t he  ex tens ion  va lue  
i s  £75,000 and above must be approved in 
advance by the Cabinet.

Contracts where just the 
extension period is less 
than £75,000 will not 
need to go to Cabinet for 
approval thus saving 
value time and resource.

P
age 29

http://sbcintranet/procurement/_layouts/WordViewer.aspx?id=/procurement/Shared%25


15.5 New clause Where appropriate, prior to using any 
purchasing scheme / framework, the 
Responsible Officer / Lead Officer should check 
with Economic Development to ensure that the 
works, good or services required are unable to 
be procured locally.

To ensure that any local 
companies that could 
provide the works goods 
or services are not 
excluded by using a 
framework.

16.1 These Contract Standing Orders shall be reviewed 
and updated on a regular basis. Save in the case of 
revisions to the EU Thresholds amended Contract 
Standing Orders shall be agreed and adopted by 
the Council.  Revisions to the EU Thresholds shall 
be dealt with in accordance with the Constitution - 
Scheme of Delegation to the Head of Legal 
Partnership.  

These Contract Standing Orders shall be 
reviewed and updated on a regular basis. Save 
in the case of revisions to the EU Thresholds 
amended Contract Standing Orders shall be 
agreed and adopted by the Council.  Revisions 
to the EU Thresholds shall be dealt with in 
accordance with the Constitution - Scheme of 
Delegation to the Head of Legal Partnership.  
Any other modifications to CSOs outside of the 
scope above will need to be presented to SMT, 
General Purposes Committee and then to Full 
Council for approval.  Any changes in legislation 
CSOs will be updated automatically however 
these CSOs will be reviewed every three years 
to ensure that these CSOs evolve with the 
Council’s requirements.

Advising on how CSO 
are to be updated in the 
future.

P
age 30



ANNEX II 

CLAUSE 7.4 - Current form

Total value

£

Type of 
contract

Procedure to be used

0 - 1000 works, 
supplies 
and 
services

a) At least one quotation in advance

b) All purchases however small to be in writing, on an     

     official order

c) Approved by the relevant Head of Service or       

     authorised officer.

d) Officer should be able to provide a rationale for why they selected the provider used.
Procedure to 
be used

1001 to

5000

works, 
supplies

and 
services

a) At least two quotes in advance

b) All purchases however small to be in writing, on an official order

c) Consideration given to Purchasing Scheme’s e.g. to provide better 

    V.F.M.

d) Approved by the relevant Head of Service or    

    authorised officer

e) Records maintained to demonstrate probity and 

    V.F.M. obtained

P
age 31



Procedure to 
be used

5001 to

15,000

works, 
supplies

and 
services

a) At least two quotes in advance
b) As a minimum to be advertised on www.swale.gov.uk
c) All purchases however small to be in writing, on an official order
d) Consideration given to Purchasing Scheme’s e.g. to provide better 

V.F.M.

e)  Approved by the relevant Head of Service or authorised officer

f) Records maintained to demonstrate probity and VFM obtained

g) Record to be entered on the Council s Contract Register

15,000   to

74,999

works, 
supplies 
and 
services

a) At least three written tenders in advance
b) As a minimum to be advertised on www.swale.gov.uk and the   

Kent Business Portal, tenders over £25,000 will also need to be advertised on Contract Finder.

c) Tenders opened at the same time by the Democratic and Electoral Services Manager (or nominee), in the presence of 
the Responsible Officer (or nominee) and an independent senior officer and also where required or requested in the 
presence of the cabinet portfolio holder (or nominee)

d) Record to be entered on the Council s Contract Register

e) Contracts in writing using the standard clauses and to include the core clauses as set out within the CSOs document

f) Award of contract approved by the Responsible Officer plus signed by another officer

g)  Risk assessment conducted (in writing) and kept on the file

P
age 32

http://www.swale.gov.uk/
http://www.swale.gov.uk/
https://www.kentbusinessportal.org.uk/procontract/portal.nsf/vLiveDocs/SD-DEVV-6UGE9Y?OpenDocument&contentid=1.001
https://sid4gov.cabinetoffice.gov.uk/login


75,000   to

164,176**

works, 
supplies 
and

services

a) At least three written tenders in advance. 

b) As a minimum to be advertised www.swale.gov.uk the Kent and Business Portal plus Contract Finder.
c) List of contractors invited to tender approved by the Responsible Officer.
d) Tenders opened at the same time by the Democratic and Electoral Services Manager (or nominee), in the presence of 

the Responsible Officer (or nominee) and an independent senior officer and also where required or requested in the 
presence of the cabinet portfolio holder (or nominee).

e) Tenderers subjected to Financial Appraisal prior to invitation to tender.
f) Approval required from the Cabinet for award of contract, waiver from CSOs and extensions to contracts.

g) Contract executed as a deed.

h) Record of the contract entered on the Councils Contract Register

i)  Standard contract clauses to be used and to include the core clauses as set out within the CSOs document.

j)  Risk assessment conducted (in writing) and kept on the file.

164,176**

plus

**EU 
Threshold

Supplies 
and 
services

a) EU Rules apply – full competitive process with tenders following advertisement in the O.J.E.U. for supplies and Part A* 
services. For Part B* services reduced requirements apply but there is a presumption in favour of advertising and a 
competitive process.  This will also be advertised on the Swale website the Kent and the South East Business Portals 
and Contract Finder.

b) Points a; c; d; e; f; g; h; I and j as above for works, supplies and services for

£75,000 to £173,934**

164,176 to

4,104,394**

Works a) Points a – j as above for works, supplies and services for £75,000 to £164,176**

P
age 33

http://www.swale.gov.uk/
https://www.kentbusinessportal.org.uk/procontract/portal.nsf/vLiveDocs/SD-DEVV-6UGE9Y?OpenDocument&contentid=1.001
https://sid4gov.cabinetoffice.gov.uk/login


4,104,394**

plus

**EU 
Threshold

Works a) EU Rules apply – full competitive process with tenders following advertisement in the O.J.E.U.

b) Points a; c; d; e; f; g; h; I and j as above for works, supplies and services for £75,000 to £164,176**

P
age 34



CLAUSE 7.4 – Proposed form

Total value

£

Type of 
contract

Procedure to be used

£0 - £999 works, 
supplies and 
services

a)  At least one quotation in advance;

b) All purchases however small to be in writing, on an official order;

c) Approved by the relevant Head of Service or       

     authorised officer;

d)  Officer should be able to provide a rationale for why they selected the provider used.

Procedure to be 
used

£1,000 to

£4,999

works, 
supplies

and services

a) At least two quotes in advance;

b) All purchases however small to be in writing, on an official order;

c) Consideration given to Purchasing Scheme’s e.g. to provide better V.F.M.;

d) Approved by the relevant Head of Service or    

    authorised officer;

e) Records maintained to demonstrate probity and V.F.M. obtained;

Procedure to be 
used

£5,000 to

£24,999

works, 
supplies

and services

a) At least three quotes in advance;
b) Contracts & Procurement need to be made aware of any procurement where the whole life value is >£5,000.
c) All purchases however small to be in writing, on an official order
d) Consideration given to Purchasing Scheme’s e.g. to provide better VFM;
e) Approved by the relevant Head of Service or authorised officer;

f) Records maintained to demonstrate probity and VFM obtained;

g)  Record to be entered on the Council s Contract Register;

P
age 35



Procedure to be 
used

£25,000   to

74,999

works, 
supplies and 
services

a) At least three electronic  tenders in advance
b) As a minimum to be advertised on www.swale.gov.uk,   

the Council’s E-procurement System plus  Contract Finder;

c) Tenders opened at the same time by the Democratic and Electoral Services Manager (or nominee), in the presence of the 
Responsible Officer (or nominee) and a suitable person from Legal Service (or Nominee); 

d) Record to be entered on the Council s Contract Register;

e) Contracts in writing using the standard clauses and to include the core clauses as set out within the CSOs document;

f) Award of contract approved by the Responsible Officer plus signed by another officer;

g) Risk assessment conducted (in writing) and kept on the file.Procedure to be 
used

£75,000   to

£164,176**

works, 
supplies and

services

a) At least three written tenders in advance;

b) As a minimum to be advertised www.swale.gov.uk the Kent and Business Portal plus Contract Finder;
c) List of contractors invited to tender approved by the Responsible Officer;
d) Tenders opened at the same time by the Democratic and Electoral Services Manager (or nominee), in the presence of the 

Responsible Officer (or nominee) and a suitable person from Legal Service (or Nominee);
e) Tenderers subjected to Financial Appraisal prior to award of tender;
f) Approval required from the Cabinet for award of contract, waiver from CSOs and extensions to contracts;

g) Contract executed as a deed;

h) Record of the contract entered on the Councils Contract Register;

i)  Standard contract clauses to be used and to include the core clauses as set out within the CSOs document;

j)  Risk assessment conducted (in writing) and kept on the file.

P
age 36

http://www.swale.gov.uk/
https://sid4gov.cabinetoffice.gov.uk/login
http://www.swale.gov.uk/
https://www.kentbusinessportal.org.uk/procontract/portal.nsf/vLiveDocs/SD-DEVV-6UGE9Y?OpenDocument&contentid=1.001
https://sid4gov.cabinetoffice.gov.uk/login


Procedure to be 
used

£164,176**

plus

**EU 

Threshold

Supplies and 
services

a) EU Rules apply – full competitive process with tenders following advertisement in the O.J.E.U. for supplies and services, there 
is a presumption in favour of advertising and a competitive process.  This will also be advertised on the Swale website, Kent 
Business Portals and Contract Finder.

b) Points a; c; d; e; f; g; h; I and j as above for works, supplies and services for £75,000 to £173,934**

Procedure to be 
used

164,176 to

4,104,394**

Works

a) Points a – j as above for works, supplies and services for £75,000 to £164,176**

Procedure to be 
used

£589,148** Plus 
**EU Threshold

Light Touch 
Regime Services

a) Points a – j as above for works, supplies and services for £75,000 to £589,148**

Procedure to be 
used

£4,104,394**

plus

**EU Threshold

Works a) EU Rules apply – full competitive process with tenders following advertisement in the O.J.E.U.

b) Points a; c; d; e; f; g; h; I and j as above for works, supplies and services for £75,000 to £164,176**

P
age 37



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Council Meeting Agenda Item: 
Meeting Date 19 October 2016
Report Title Review of Polling Districts and Places – Sheerness 

and Woodstock Wards
Portfolio Holder Leader
SMT Lead Abdool Kara
Head of Service Mark Radford
Lead Officer Katherine Bescoby
Key Decision No
Classification Open
Forward Plan N/A
Recommendations Council is asked to agree:

1. the proposed changes to polling districts and the polling 
place for the Sheerness ward be approved and

2. the proposed change to the polling place for the 
Woodstock ward be approved.  

1. Purpose of Report and Executive Summary

1.1 The General Purposes Committee met on 29 October 2016 and considered 
proposals to change arrangements for voting in two wards, namely Sheerness 
and the Woodstock ward, in the light of experiences at recent elections.  The 
Committee recommended that the Council agreed the proposals.

2. Background

2.1 The Electoral Administration Act 2006 introduced a requirement for Councils 
to undertake a review of polling districts and places in 2007, and every four 
years thereafter.  In practice, however, we monitor this more regularly and 
have, when necessary, made arrangements for alternative polling places/ 
stations with the agreement of the Council/ Returning Officer.

2.2 The last full review was carried out in 2014, prior to the all-out Borough 
elections held in May 2015 (which were combined with the Parliamentary and 
Parish elections, using the new ward boundaries).

2.3 To clarify, the Council is responsible for setting the polling district (a 
geographical area of a ward) and polling places (a geographical area within a 
polling district that the polling station must be located within).  The Returning 
Officer is responsible for locating the polling station, which must be within the 
polling place.

Page 39

Agenda Item 12



3. Proposal

Sheerness Ward

3.1 During the review held in 2014, Members asked for an additional polling 
district to be created in the Sheerness ward, and for a polling station at 
Vincent Gardens.  Unfortunately, it was not possible to use Vincent Gardens, 
and so arrangements were made for a mobile building to be located on 
hardstanding adjacent to Vincent Gardens.

3.2 However, feedback has been received about the way in which the electors are 
allocated to the station, in that some people walk past a different polling 
station to vote there.  This does cause some confusion for electors, and so we 
have invited input from the ward members and have re-drawn the polling 
districts.

3.3 Whilst a portacabin is often seen as a solution for difficult locations, they do 
not come without their logistical problems, particularly where there is no 
obviously defined area for it.  For example, in Throwley, there is a long history 
of the polling station being located on the green, and we have no problems 
with the location, for example, there is access to mains electricity.  At the 
Sittingbourne Community College we have established a good working 
relationship with the school and have achieved a sensible solution to ensure 
the school does not need to close on polling day.

3.4 At Vincent Gardens, however, whilst on the day of the election the portacabin 
has worked reasonably well, it requires considerable prior work.  It requires an 
assessment of residents’ parking (with flyers being sent to them); and the 
need for someone to be on site to take delivery/oversee collection of the 
portacabin, ramp, generator and the portaloo (which may not arrive at the 
same time).

3.5 Facilities for the polling station team are also very basic with no access to a 
water supply.  In addition the use of portacabin is very expensive in 
comparison with other venues, costing in the region of £5,000.

3.6 In view of the above, discussions are currently taking place with the Freedom 
Centre. It is therefore recommended that the polling place for this polling 
district is extended to cover the whole polling district, which will enable the 
Returning Officer to use the Freedom Centre should it be available, or to 
continue to use the portacabin at Vincent Gardens if it is not.

Woodstock Ward

3.7 It is proposed that Minterne School is no longer used as a polling station, and 
that the Sports Pavilion (UK Paper) is used instead.

3.8 Whilst Minterne School has been used for many years, it is becoming 
increasingly difficult for the school to accommodate us, and in recent years we 
have had problems regarding car parking and the size of the room allocated.  
In contrast, the arrangements worked well at the Sports Pavilion for the EU 
Referendum, which saw a high turnout without any difficulties on-site.

Page 40



3.9 As an alternative venue is available nearby. and it is a suitable venue in terms 
of size, disabled access and car parking, it is recommended that the polling 
place is extended to include the Sports Pavilion, so that the Returning Officer 
may use this venue at future elections, but still has the option to use Minterne 
School if necessary.

4. Alternative Options

4.1 The Committee may make suggestions for alternative venues; however, 
consideration does need to be given to practical aspects in terms of the 
venues available within the wards, which will be used for the KCC elections in 
May 2017.

5. Consultation Undertaken or Proposed

5.3 Ward Members and Group Leaders have been asked for their views regarding 
the proposed changes.  There will be a full polling station review in 2018, 
which will include full public consultation.

6. Implications

Issue Implications
Corporate Plan Localism

Financial, 
Resource and 
Property

We are seeking to retain the current number of polling stations 
(which must be located within the polling place); however, there 
may be some variations in price but this will be kept within existing 
budgets.

Legal and 
Statutory

The Council is required to take a full review in accordance with the 
Electoral Administration Act 2006, however, keeps polling stations 
under regular review.

Crime and 
Disorder

None identified at this time.

Sustainability None identified at this stage

Health & 
Wellbeing

None identified at this stage

Risk Management 
and Health and 
Safety

The purpose of the review is to ensure that all voters have 
reasonable facilities for voting.  It is important that venues meet 
health and safety requirements so as not to put voters at risk.  
Polling Station staff are encouraged to give feedback on venues 
and each station is visited by a Polling Station Inspector on election 
day.

Equality and 
Diversity

The purpose of the review is to ensure that all electors in the 
Borough have reasonable facilities for voting, and that as far as is 
reasonable and practicable, facilities for voting are accessible for 
disabled people. 

7. Appendices

Page 41



7.1 The following documents are to be published with this report and form part of 
the report:

 Appendix I: Map of Sheerness Ward with revised polling districts

8. Background Papers

8.1 Previous reports and minutes are also available to view at: www.swale.gov.uk

Page 42

http://www.swale.gov.uk/


Sheerness East (E):
Richmond  Academy

Unity Street
Sheerness

Kent
ME12 2QT

Sheerness East (C):
Portacabin

Vincent Gardens
Sheerness

Kent
ME12 1XR

Sheerness West (S):
West Minster Primary School

St.Georges Avenue
Sheerness

Kent
ME12 1ET

Sheerness East (W):
Sheerness County Youth Centre

Broadway
Sheerness

Kent
ME12 1TP

Sheerness West (N):
Seashells Children and Families Centre

Rose Street
Sheerness

Kent
ME12 1AW

kilometres

Scale: 1:6,500

0 1

© Crown Copyright and database rights 2016. Ordnance Survey 100018386.

P
age 43



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Council Agenda Item:  
Meeting Date 19 October 2016
Report Title Annual Treasury Management Report  2015/16

Cabinet Member Cllr Duncan Dewar-Whalley, Cabinet Member for 
Finance

SMT Lead Nick Vickers, Head of Finance 
Head of Service Nick Vickers, Head of Finance
Lead Officer Olga Cole, Management Accountant
Key Decision No
Classification Open
Forward Plan Reference number

Recommendations 1. To approve the Treasury Management stewardship report for 
2015/16.

2. To approve the prudential and treasury management 
indicators within the report.

1. Purpose of Report and Executive Summary

1.1 The Council’s treasury management activity is underpinned by the Chartered 
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA’s) Code of Practice on 
Treasury Management (“the Code”), which requires local authorities to 
produce annually Prudential Indicators and a Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement on the likely financing and investment activity.  The Code also 
recommends that members are informed of treasury management activities at 
least twice a year.

1.2 Treasury management is defined as “the management of the local Council’s 
investments and cash flows, its banking, money market and capital market 
transactions;  the effective control of the risks associated with those activities;  
and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks”.

1.3 Overall responsibility for treasury management remains with the Council.  No 
treasury management activity is without risk; the effective identification and 
management of risk are integral to the Council’s treasury management 
objectives.  

1.4 This report:

 is prepared in accordance with the revised CIPFA Treasury Management 
Code and the revised Prudential Code;

 details the implications of treasury decisions and transactions;

Page 45

Agenda Item 13



 gives details of the outturn position on treasury management transactions 
in 2015/16;  and

 confirms compliance with Treasury limits and Prudential Indicators.

1.5 This report was submitted to the Audit Committee on 14 September 2016.

2. Background

Borrowing Requirement and Debt Management

2.1 The overall borrowing position is summarised below: 

Balance on 
31/3/2015

£000’s

Debt 
Maturing

£000’s

New 
Borrowing

£000’s

Balance on 
31/3/2016  

£000’s
Capital Funding Requirement 5,106 0 0 4,770

Short Term Borrowing 0 0 0 0
Long Term Borrowing 0 0 0 0
TOTAL EXTERNAL DEBT 0 0 0 0
Other Long Term Liabilities
(cost of leases for equipment) 753 0 0 550

TOTAL EXTERNAL DEBT 753 0 0 550

2.2 The Council undertook no borrowing in the year but full Council did agree in 
March 2016 that the Council could borrow externally up to £30m to fund 
regeneration activity.  Business cases when developed will be reported to 
Cabinet for decision.

2.3 Currently all borrowing is internally financed. 

Investment Activity

2.4 The Council held average cash daily balances of £36m during the year - this is 
an increase of 29% on the previous year.  These represented working cash 
balances, capital receipts and the Council’s reserves.

2.5 The Communities and Local Government’s (CLG’s) Guidance on Investments, 
revised during 2009/10, reiterated security and liquidity as the primary 
objectives of a prudent investment policy.  Although the Guidance became 
operative on 1 April 2010, its principal recommendations run parallel to the 
credit risk management requirements in the revised Treasury Management 
Code.  In the revised Guidance, Specified Investments are those made with 
a body or scheme of “high credit quality”.  Both the Guidance and the revised 
Treasury Management Code emphasise that counterparty credit criteria 
should not rely on credit ratings alone but should include a wider range of 
indicators.  The revised Code nonetheless requires that ratings assigned by all 
three rating agencies – Fitch, Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s – be taken into 
account and the lowest rating be used.

Page 46



2.6 The criteria applied by the Head of Finance for the approval of a counter party 
are:

 Credit rating - a minimum long-term of A-;
 Credit default swaps;
 Share price;
 Reputational issues;
 Exposure to other parts of the same banking group; and
 Country exposure.

2.7 The investments permissible by the 2015/16 Treasury Strategy were:

Investment Instruments – (in sterling) Limits and Maturity dates
Government backed deposits
 The UK government  Unlimited amount and maturity up to 

364 days
 Gilt Edged Securities  Unlimited amount and maturity up to 

364 days

Money Market Funds and Collective 
Investment Schemes

£1.5m limit for AAA rated funds as defined 
by Fitch, Moody’s and Standard and Poor’s 
(funds are held on call).

Major UK banks / building societies.  
(Barclays, HSBC, Lloyds Banking Group, 
RBS Group, Santander UK, Nationwide, 
Standard Chartered, Handelsbanken) 
unsecured deposits.

£3m limit per counterparty for minimum A-
rated institutions as defined by Fitch, and/or 
equivalent ratings by Moody’s and Standard 
& Poor’s.
Maximum period 364 days.

Close Brothers £1m limit

Leeds Building Society £1m limit

Small UK Building Societies £250k each or max £1m in aggregate

Major Overseas banks unsecured 
deposits (to be determined with 
Arlingclose)

£1m limit per bank

CCLA LAMIT Fund £1.5m in aggregate

Supranational Bonds £6m in aggregate

Certificate of Deposits £3m limit per counterparty

Corporate bond funds £3m in aggregate

2.8 The maximum duration for deposits is 12 months.  The Head of Finance in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Finance may consider longer 
duration.  Bonds can be purchased with a maximum duration of 5 years.

Page 47



2.9 The application of two European Union directives into UK legislation placed 
the burden of rescuing failing EU banks disproportionately onto unsecured 
institutional investors which include local authorities.  During the year, all three 
credit ratings agencies reviewed their ratings to reflect the loss of government 
support for most financial institutions and the potential for loss given default as 
a result of new bail-in regimes in many countries.  Despite reductions in 
government support many institutions saw upgrades due to an improvement in 
their underlying strength and an assessment that that the level of loss given 
default is low.

2.10 In August duration limits were increased for some UK and European banks, 
and building societies based on advice from Arlingclose.  Those for Close 
Brothers, Coventry BS, Nationwide BS and Santander UK were increased to 6 
months from 100 days and Bank of Scotland, HSBC Bank, Lloyds Bank and 
Svenska Handelsbanken increased to 13 months from 6 months.  The limit for 
Barclays was unchanged while RBS / NatWest remained suspended from the 
list as their ratings continue to be below the Council’s agreed threshold.

2.11 In December the Bank of England released the results of its latest stress tests 
on the seven largest UK banks and building societies which showed that the 
RBS and Standard Chartered Bank were the weakest performers.  However, 
the regulator did not require either bank to submit revised capital plans, since 
both firms had already improved their ratios over the year.

2.12 The first quarter of 2016 was characterised by financial market volatility and a 
weakening outlook for global economic growth.  In March 2016 the ratings of 
Standard Chartered Bank were downgraded due to concerns around the 
profitability and quality of the bank’s assets.  Taking account of advice from 
Arlingclose, the bank was suspended from the Council’s counterparty list.

2.13 The Council’s reserves have increased significantly in recent years due 
primarily to underspends arising from higher fees and charges income and 
savings on major contracts, and a surplus on business rates.  With Revenue 
Support Grant disappearing completely from 2020 the Council is in a transition 
stage to being self-financing.  Suitable use of reserves is of fundamental 
importance in supporting this process and allowing the Council to invest in 
assets which will give long-term revenue streams which are far higher than the 
returns likely in the foreseeable future from bank and other deposits.

2.14 The deposits for the year are summarised below:

Investments

Balance 
on 

31/3/15
£’000

Investments 
Made
£’000

Maturities 
£’000

Balance 
on 

31/03/16  
£’000

Average 
Rate % 

Average 
Life 

(days)

Short Term Investments 22,300 216,147 (213,082) 25,365 0.65 58
Long Term Investments 1,502 0 (2) 1,500 4.77 Undated
TOTAL INVESTMENTS 23,802 216,147 (213,084) 26,865
Increase/ (Decrease) in 
Investments 3,063

2.15 Liquidity:  In keeping with the CLG’s Guidance on Investments, the Council 
maintained a sufficient level of liquidity through the use of Money Market 
Funds, overnight deposits and the use of call accounts.

Page 48



2.16 Yield:  The Council sought to optimise returns commensurate with its 
objectives of security and liquidity.  The UK Bank Rate was maintained at 
0.5% through the year.  Short-term money market rates remained at very low 
levels.

2.17 The Council’s budgeted investment income for 2015/16 was £85,000 and the 
actual income received was £234,000.  Of this additional return of £149,000 
£77,337 is attributable to a higher level of balances and £71,663 is due to the 
investment in the CCLA Property Fund which returned 4.77% in the year. 

Compliance with Prudential Indicators

2.18 The Council has complied with its Prudential Indicators for 2015/16 which 
were set as part of the Treasury Management Strategy agreed by Council in 
February 2015.

2.19 In Appendix I the outturn position for the year against each Prudential Indicator 
is set out.

Treasury Advisers

2.20 Arlingclose has been the Council’s treasury advisers since May 2009.  
Following a tendering process, Arlingclose were reappointed in 2015.  Officers 
of the Council meet with them regularly and high quality and timely information 
is received from them.

3. Proposal

3.1 Members are asked to approve the report.

4. Alternative Proposals

4.1 No alternative proposals have been considered and compliance with the 
CIPFA Code is mandatory. 

5. Consultation Undertaken

5.1 Arlingclose have been consulted.  

6. Implications

Issue Implications

Corporate Plan Supports delivery of the Council’s objectives.

Financial, Resource 
and Property

The Council’s Treasury Strategy is agreed annually as part 
of the budget process.

Legal and Statutory Need to comply with CLG guidance on treasury 
management.

Page 49



Issue Implications

Crime and Disorder Not relevant to this report

Sustainability Not relevant to this report

Health and Wellbeing Not relevant to this report
Risk Management and 
Health and Safety

Not relevant to this report

Equality and Diversity Not relevant to this report

7. Appendices

7.1 Appendix I:  Treasury Management and Prudential Indicators

8. Background Papers

None

Page 50



Appendix I

Treasury Management and Prudential Indicators for 2015/16

1. Background

There is a requirement under the Local Government Act 2003 for local authorities to 
have regard to CIPFA’s Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (the 
“CIPFA Prudential Code”) when setting and reviewing their Prudential Indicators.

2. Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR)

This is a key indicator of prudence.  In order to ensure that over the medium term net 
debt will only be for a capital purpose, the local authority should ensure that the net 
debt does not, except in the short term, exceed the total of the capital financing 
requirement in the preceding year plus the estimates of any additional increases to 
the capital financing requirement for the current and next two financial years. 

The Head of Finance reports that the authority had no difficulty meeting this 
requirement in 2015/16, nor is there any difficulties envisaged for future years.  This 
view takes into account the proposals in the approved budget.

Gross Debt and the Capital 
Financing Requirement

2015/16
Actual

2016/17
Estimate

2017/18
Estimate

£’000 £’000 £’000
Gross CFR 4,770 4,374 18,000
Less: Other Long Term Liabilities (550) (382) (181)
Borrowing CFR 4,220 3,992 17,819
Less: Existing Profile of Borrowing 0 0 0
Cumulative Maximum External 
Borrowing Requirement. 4,220 3,992 17,819

3. Capital Expenditure

This indicator is set to ensure that the level of proposed capital expenditure remains 
within sustainable limits and, in particular, to consider the impact on Council Tax.

Capital Expenditure 2015/16
Actual

2016/17
Estimate

2017/18
Estimate

£’000 £’000 £’000
Total 2,309 2,739 50

Capital expenditure will be financed as follows:

Capital Financing 2015/16
Actual

2016/17
Estimate

2017/18
Estimate

£’000 £’000 £’000
Capital receipts 127 605 35
Grants 1,436 2,104 0
Revenue contributions 746 30 15
Total Financing 2,309 2,739 50

Page 51



Appendix I

Treasury Management and Prudential Indicators for 2015/16

4. Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream

This is an indicator of affordability, highlighting the revenue implications of existing 
and proposed capital expenditure by identifying the proportion of the revenue budget 
required to meet financing costs.  The definition of financing costs is set out in the 
Prudential Code. 

The ratio is based on costs net of investment income.

Ratio of Financing Costs to Net 
Revenue Stream

2015/16
Actual

2016/17
Estimate

2017/18
Estimate

% % %
Total 0.85 1.51 1.58

5. Incremental Impact of Capital Investment Decision

This is an indicator of affordability that shows the impact of capital investment 
decisions on Council Tax levels.  The incremental impact on Council Tax is the 
difference between the total revenue budget requirement of the current approved 
capital programme and the revenue budget requirement from the capital programme 
proposed.

Incremental Impact of Capital 
Investment Decisions

2015/16
Actual

£

2016/17
Estimate

£

2017/18
Estimate

£
Increase/Decrease in Band D Council 
tax

0.09 (0.04) 0.00

6. Capital Financing Requirement

The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) measures the Council’s underlying need 
to borrow for a capital purpose.  The calculation of the CFR is taken from the 
amounts held in the Balance Sheet relating to capital expenditure and its financing.

Capital Financing Requirement 2015/16
Actual

2016/17
Estimate

2017/18
Estimate

£’000 £’000 £’000

Total CFR 4,770 4,374 18,000

7. Actual External Debt

This indicator is obtained directly from the Council’s balance sheet.  It is the closing 
balance for actual gross borrowing plus other long-term liabilities.  This indicator is 
measured in a manner consistent for comparison with the Operational Boundary and 
Authorised Limit.  The long-term liabilities relate to finance lease arrangements for 
the provision of leisure management equipment and embedded leases representing 
the value of equipment for the exclusive use for the Council by its grounds 
maintenance contractors.

Page 52



Appendix I

Treasury Management and Prudential Indicators for 2015/16

Actual External Debt as at 31/03/2016 £’000
Borrowing 0
Other Long-term Liabilities 550
Total 550

8. Authorised Limit and Operational Boundary for External Debt

The Authorised Limit sets the maximum level of external borrowing on a gross basis 
(i.e., not net of investments) for the Council.  It is measured on a daily basis against 
all external borrowing items on the Balance Sheet (i.e., long and short-term 
borrowing, overdrawn bank balances and long-term liabilities).  This Prudential 
Indictor separately identifies borrowing from other long-term liabilities such as finance 
leases.  It is consistent with the Council’s existing commitments, its proposals for 
capital expenditure and financing, and its approved treasury management policy 
statement and practices.

The Authorised Limit has been set on the estimate of the most likely, prudent but not 
worst case scenario with sufficient headroom over and above this to allow for 
unusual cash movements.

The Authorised Limit is the statutory limit determined under Section 3(1) of the Local 
Government Act 2003 (referred to in the legislation as the Affordable Limit).

At the Council meeting on 16 March 2016, Members approved a change to the 
budget framework to allow for funding to be provided up a maximum borrowing of 
£30m (minute 607/03/2016). 

Authorised Limit for External 
Debt

2015/16
Estimate

£’000

2016/17
Estimate

£’000

2017/18
Estimate

£’000
Borrowing 5,000 35,000 35,000
Other Long-term Liabilities 2,000 2,000 2,000
Total 7,000 37,000 37,000

The Operational Boundary links directly to the Council’s estimates of the CFR and 
estimates of other cash flow requirements.  This indicator is based on the same 
estimates as the Authorised Limit reflecting the most likely, prudent but not worst 
case scenario but without the additional headroom included within the Authorised 
Limit.

Operational Boundary for 
External Debt

2015/16
Estimate

£’000

2016/17
Estimate

£’000

2017/18
Estimate

£’000
Borrowing 6,000 30,000 30,000
Other Long-term Liabilities 774 382 181
Total 6,774 30,382 30,181

The Head of Finance confirms that there were no breaches to the Authorised Limit 
and the Operational Boundary during 2015/16.
9. Adoption of the CIPFA Treasury Management Code

Page 53



Appendix I

Treasury Management and Prudential Indicators for 2015/16

This indicator demonstrates that the Council has adopted the principles of best 
practise.

The Council adopted the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s 
Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice 2011 Edition on 22 
February 2012.

10. Interest Rate Exposures: 

This indicator is set to control the Council’s exposure to interest rate risk.  The 
Council calculates these limits on net principal outstanding sums (i.e., fixed rate debt 
net of fixed rate investments).

Upper Limit 2015/16
Estimate

2015/16
Actual

2016/17
Estimate

2017/18
Estimate

% % % %
Interest on fixed rate borrowing 100 0 100 100
Interest on fixed rate investments -100 -52 -100 -100
Upper Limit for Fixed Interest Rate 
Exposure

0 -52 0 0

Interest on variable rate borrowing 100 0 100 100
Interest on variable rate investments -100 -48 -100 -100
Upper Limit for Variable Interest Rate 
Exposure

0 -48 0 0

As the Council has no borrowing, these calculations have resulted in a negative 
figure.

11. Maturity Structure of Borrowing

This indicator highlights the existence of any large concentrations of fixed rate debt 
needing to be replaced at times of uncertainty over interest rates.  It is designed to 
protect against excessive exposures to interest rate changes in any one period, in 
particular in the course of the next ten years.

Maturity Structure of Borrowing Existing level 
at 31/03/16

%

Lower Limit 
for 2016/17

%

Upper Limit 
for 2016/17

%
Under 12 months 0 0 100
12 months and within 24 months 0 0 100
24 months and within 5 years 0 0 100
5 years and within 10 years 0 0 100
10 years and above 0 0 100

The Council does not have any external borrowing for capital purposes, and did not 
need to borrow for cash flow purposes during 2015/16.

Page 54



Appendix I

Treasury Management and Prudential Indicators for 2015/16

12. Credit Risk

The Council considers security, liquidity and yield, in that order, when making 
investment decisions.

Credit ratings remain an important element of assessing credit risk, but they are not 
a sole feature in the Council’s assessment of counterparty credit risk.

The Council also considers alternative assessments of credit strength, and 
information on corporate developments of and market sentiment towards 
counterparties.  The following key tools are used to assess credit risk:
o published credit ratings of the financial institution (minimum A- or equivalent 

and its sovereign (minimum AA+ or equivalent for non-UK sovereigns):
o sovereign support mechanisms;
o credit default swaps (where quoted);
o share prices (where available);
o economic fundamentals, such as a country’s net debt as a percentage of its 

GDP;
o corporate developments, news, articles, markets sentiment and momentum; 

and
o subjective overlay.

The only indicators with prescriptive values remain to be credit ratings.  Other 
indicators of creditworthiness are considered in relative rather than absolute terms.

The Head of Finance confirms that there were no breaches to counterparty limits or 
credit ratings at the time of placing investments.

13. Upper Limit for Total Principal Sums Invested for Periods Longer than 
364 days

The purpose of this limit is to contain exposure to the possibility of loss that may arise 
as a result of the Authority having to seek early repayment of the sums invested.

Total Principal Sums Invested 
Over 364 Days

2015/16
£’000

2016/17
£’000

2017/18  
£’000

Upper Limit Estimate 9,000 10,000 10,000
Actual 1,500 - -

14. Investment Benchmarking

Average Actual 
Return on 

investments 
2015/16

Original Estimate 
Return on 

Investments 
2015/16

Average Bank 
Rate

2015/16

Average 7 day 
LIBID Rate

2015/16

0.65% 0.27% 0.50% 0.36%

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



Council

19 October 2016

Recommendations for Council to consider

(a) Council is asked to note the recommendations from the following meetings, 
which are the subject of separate reports on the agenda for this meeting:

(i)  Minute No. 875 of the Audit Committee meeting held on 14 September 2016

Recommended:

(1) That the Treasury Management stewardship report for 2015/16 be approved.
(2) That the prudential and treasury management indicators within the report be 
approved.

(ii) Minute Nos. 903, 904(a), (b), (d) and (e) of the General Purposes Committee 
meeting held on 29 September 2016

Minute 903 

Recommended:

(1) That the proposed changes to polling districts and the polling place for the 
Sheerness Ward be approved.

(2)That the proposed change to the polling place for the Woodstock Ward be 
approved.

Minute 904(a)

Recommended:

(1) That delegation be given to the Director of Corporate Services, in consultation 
with the Leader, to incorporate the revised national model procedure into Part 
4.8 of the Officer Employment Procedure Rules within the Constitution.

Minute 904(b)

Recommended:

(1) That the constitution be amended to revise delegation 1 of the Head of Planning 
Service’s delegation to include the wording to negotiate and enter into S.106 
Agreements.

(2) That the Constitution be amended to include a new delegation to the Head of 
Planning Service’s delegation that during the appeal process to negotiate and 

Page 57

Agenda Item 14



enter into S.106 Agreements and conditions in accordance with Council Local 
Plan policies and any pre-appeal discussions with relevant Members.

Minute 904(d)

Recommended:
(1) That the constitution be not amended following the motions submitted by 

Members.

Minute 904(e)

Recommended:  

(1) That, subject to the amendments referred to above, the proposed amendments 
be made to Contract Standing Orders as set out in Appendix I of the report. 

(b) Council is asked to agree the following recommendation from the General 
Purposes Committee meeting held on 29 September 2016

(i) Minute No. 904(c)

Recommended:  

That section (v) of the PDRC Terms of Reference be not deleted.

Page 58


	Agenda
	10 Consideration of the two motions referred from Council to the General Purposes Committee
	Working Paper - GP committee - public speaking at PC - Sept 16
	Guidanceonpublicspeakingatcommittee

	11 Constitution Review
	S.106 delegation item - sept 16 revisions following GPC
	Working Paper GPC CSO
	CSOamendsannex_updated for Council

	12 Review of Polling District and Places in Sheerness and Woodstock Wards
	Appendix I_Sheerness PD Review

	13 Treasury Management report
	14 Recommendations for Council to consider

